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A Few Words About the Ice House of the
Konsum Store in the Nineteenth-Century Priest’s
Mill Factory and Residential Complex in £édz

People gathered, stored, and used real ice for purposes connected with business
activity and food already in the antiquity and, according to Adrian Wessel Reinink
(1995: 8on), ‘the line of development’ of such activity

...bei China beginne (fiir das es die iltesten Daten gibt) und dann iiber den Iran, die
anderen Landern des Islam, Spanien, Sizilien, dem tibrigen Italien, Frankreich, England
und den anderen Landern Europas fihrte...,

where it was still conducted before the end of the sixteenth century. The ‘other
countries” include Poland, where the term ‘lodownia’ (‘ice pit’ or ‘ice house™)
was first used in Polish sources during that period®. Admittedly, Bartlomiej of
Bydgoszcz did not know it yet, or at least did not include it in his 1532 and 154 4
dictionaries (Stownik Barttomieja... 1999—2019°), but at the same time, in 1543,
it appeared in crown land books, in a statement of expenditures on the Wawel

1 In Polish, the term ‘lodownia’ is used to describe the objects discussed in this article,
regardless of their construction or materials used. I will use the latter of the two
English terms consistently.

2 On the other hand, as Andrzej Kola wrote (1989: 103) a simple... way to use ice was most

probably known to peoples living in our land in the prebistory and the Middle Ages. ..

3 He does know, however, as does Jan Maczyniski in 1564, the relevant Latin
term — ‘frigidarium’, translated by them as ‘chlodnica’ (Maczyniski 1564: 137; Stownik
Barttomieja. .. 1999: 101).
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Royal Castle (Wawel... 1913: 311)*. It seems that it soon grew in popularity, and so
‘lodownia pewna’ (‘a certain ice house’) is to Jakub Pong¢towski (1937: 142), who
died in 1586, an indispensable element of a perfect manor. On the other hand his
contemporary Anzelm Gostomski believed it was important

lodownie w dworzech, gdzie Pan bywa maja by¢ opatrywane, aby 16d nie ginal, a na czas
zime byl chowan

to keep ice houses in manors, where the Lord stays, supplied so that ice is not wasted and
it is stored cold (Gostomski 1588: 70),

while Duke Krzysztof Radziwill, in an instruction manual from 1621, ordered the
administrator of his Vilnius palace

do lodowniej czasu swego lodu dostatek nagotowa¢, kadz w ni¢ wlozy¢ tak, jakom ukazal,
azeby byla zawsze zamczysta lodownia, naprawi¢

to prepare enough ice for the ice house in time and to put a vat in it like I have shown;
and to repair the ice house so that it is always properly locked (Instrukcijos... 198s: 1).

However, it should be emphasised that all men mentioned above were represent-
atives of the Polish gentry, so they most probably expressed the views of this class.
It is difficult to say something about the presence of ice houses in the manors of
middle and petty nobles. Perhaps their interest in ice houses was smaller as they
are only occasionally mentioned in the seventeenth- and eighteenth-century in-
ventories of smaller estates. If so, this might by why ‘ice houses’ cannot be found
in popular works by Jan Krzysztof Haur (1675; 1679; 1693) addressed to a wider
audience. However, he was familiar with such structures as he mentioned cool-
ing drinks with ice in the summer, at the same time expressing an opinion that
drinking them was not healthy (Haur 1679: 109).

There are few mentions of ice houses in royal estates used by the gentry. They
are more frequently referred to in the case of church estates, mostly in towns
belonging to bishops, and particularly in those with bishop’s courts.

Moreover, the form of inventories, and especially their succinctness with regard
to elements of property that were of lower economic significance, makes it no
easier to get to know the objects described better. Typically, they only provide the
location of the ice house within the manor or the farm, rarely also the village. We
are sometimes informed about the state of the object (particularly when it is poor),
and only sporadically about some details of its structure. However, even then we

4 There are numerous references to Wawel ice houses in this collection of sources (Wawel. ..
1913: 311, 365, 410, 417, 418, 419, 431, 438, 440, 450, 454, 459, 474, 509, 517, 557, 741).
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learn little, just like in the case of the ice house in Grédek on the Bugin Podlasie,
where in 1604 it was noted that lodownia przy tej piwnicy z kamienia murowana,
w ktdrej loddw dobrze bywa. To budowanie stomg poszyte (there is masonry ice house
at the cellar, in which lots of ice is stored. It is thatched), or in Kompina in Mazovia,
where in 1685 there was lodownia w ziemi kopana, dylami obtozona z wierzchu
snopkami poszyta (an ice house dug out in the ground, covered with wooden beams
and sheaves). Manor accounts provide even more succinct information, which
usually concerns payment for the construction or demolition of the structure,
repairs, worn or missing elements (e.g. Wawel... 1913: 365, 410, 417, 418, 438, 450,
454, 459, 474), and peaple chopping ice for the ice house (c.g. ADPL, B—4: 81v; B—341:
130; B—344: 102; AGAD, APP, 81: 43; Wawel... 1913: 311, 410, 417, 438, 479, 509).
Such accounts do not leave readers much room for interpretation. Particularly,
readers cannot say much about the reason behind the construction of each of these
ice houses. They could be used for storing food cooled with the ice, at the same
time ensuring that the food was casily available whenever necessary. However, they
could only be places where ice was stored, protected against the weather®. In fact,
we are clearly informed about their use in Poland at the time for the first of the
purposes listed by guide-like descriptions of such structures, which seem to have
first appeared in Poland at the end of the first half of the eighteenth century. One
of the oldest can be found in Informacja matematyczna... (Bystrzonowski 1743),
which is a compilation of earlier texts, mostly from the Historical and Political
Calendar published by the Jesuits from Lublin. We can learn from it that

lodownig tatwo bez wielkiego kosztu sporzadzisz w ten sposéb. Na suchym miejscu
wybierz loch gleboki, szyje mu dawszy na pétnoc bez zadnego oddechu. Ku koricu zimy
gdy lody pierwsze schodzi¢ maja; zbierz w tafle porabany. Sfomg prosta wystawszy loch,
16d w nim z16z i szyj¢ chrustem ziemia zal6z aby wiatr nie dochodzil. Bedziesz miat
w najgoretsze lato dla wygody 16d ilodownia, w ktdrej migsiwo, zwierzyny, jak w p6t
zimy konserwowaé mozesz

you can easily, without high cost, make an ice house as follows. Choose a deep dungeon
in adry spot, with a northern part without any draught. When the first ice is to break
at the end of winter, collect it cut into sheets. Having covered the dungeon with simple
straw, place ice there, and cover the opening with earth and brush so that no wind gets
inside. In the hottest summer you will have ice and an ice house, in which meat and game
you can preserve as in the middle of winter.

Though brief, the description lists all basic conditions that had to be met to ensure
proper functioning of the building. Later descriptions of ice houses, meant for

s Using ice houses for storing ice to be used in other, nearby places, or even building ice
mounds instead was still recommended in the second half of the twentieth century by
Wiktor Kurpisz (1952: 111-120; 1956: 212—233).
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Polish readers and found in the works of Piotr Switkowski (1782) and Franz Rausch

(1788), are much longer and more exhaustive. However, more studies concerning
the issue — even if some are very short — only appear in the nineteenth and twen-
tieth centuries, mostly in magazines published at the time (e.g. O lodach... 1822
241-243; Kostrzecki 18 40: 264-265; Lodownia wiejska... 186s: 100), less frequently
in encyclopaedic entries (e.g. Encyklopedja rolnicza... 1889: 380-381), and natu-
rally in the form of passages in how-to books (e.g. Harres 1883: 187-192; Iwanicki

1917: 247—251; Holewiniski 1919: 131-133). However, they are no match to similar,
particularly German, studies (a list of such works see: Heintze 2014), which they
were usually based on both in terms of text and illustrations®. As a whole, Polish

works are unique on account of one aspect: the remarks they contain typically
refer to home and farm ice houses, with very few discussions of industrial and

service ice houses (e.g. Ostrzeniewski 1902; 1906), and a few more brief mentions

of existing or newly-built structures (e.g. Kamler 1910). It is a bit surprising as

this happened even despite the fact that starting at least in the 1870s, ice, also in

Poland, was used on a large scale in breweries, municipal and private cold stores,
slaughterhouses, markets, poorhouses, and hospitals, which were all institutions

that needed a lot of ice throughout the year. For the same reason, demand for it

appeared in eating establishments and some shops. The building discussed in this

work belongs to the last category.

Researchers got interested in it in the autumn of 2014, when the £4dZ press pub-
lished reports of an accidental discovery of two ‘mysterious’ brick structures in the
grounds of a workers” housing estate Priest’s Mill (that also had had a German name
Pfaffendorf), which used to belong to Karol Scheibler’s cotton plant (cf. Pierzchata
2014: 6; 2014a: 5). Both were found directly at a building that had been erected
as a store, mostly for the plant workers, and originally called Konsum, and later
Konsumy. One of them — adjacent to the foundation of the southern wall of the
building — was soon identified as a settling tank for waste from the store (Piechrzata
2014a: 5). The function of the other one, adjacent to the northern wall of the build-
ing and described cither as hidden right under the turf rings of red brick, one |...]
within the other, the distance between which is usually only § cm (Pierzchata 2014:
6) or as a double brick ring being a foundation of a mysterious building in the shape
of a rotunda (Pierzchala2014a: 5), remained unknown at the time. The daily press
typically came up with more or less fantastical ideas suggesting that this could have
been a gazebo, a food facility, or a storage room connected with the factory delicatessen

6 There are also some translations of foreign works (cf. Rausch 1779; Harres 1882).
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(Pierzchata 2014: 6). It seems, however, that this did not arouse great interest
among readers, which is why the issue only returned to the press after nearly a year,
when, on the initiative of the municipality and conservation services, the feature
was investigated by employees of the ARCOS company, under the supervision of
archacologists Maciej Milczarek and Zbigniew Rybacki. The archaeologists, even
though their work was limited to the exploration and documentation of the interior
of the structure, soon identified it as a store ice house (Magnuszewska 2015: 4;12]
2015a: 1, 3; 201sb: 3; M. Kwiatkowski 2015: 4; Pietrzak et al. 2015).

The ice house — apart from analysis of the results of the archaeological re-
search mentioned above (Pietrzak et al. 2015) — has not been described in the
literature concerning the establishment and the functioning of the Priest’s Mill
estate (c.g. Poplawska 1964: 298-306; 19725 1992: 6869, 94—99; Szyburska 1976;
Turowski 1976; 1976a; Pus 1979; Pytlas 1979; 1998; Markiewicz-Kozariska 1982;
1984: 137-141; 1991; Kobojek 1998; Salm 1998; 2001; 2007; Stefaniski 2001: 97-101;
2003: 58—59; Walczak 2007; 2010: 103-105, 230; Tomezak 2012) or mostly un-
published conservator’s studies (e.g. Szyburska 1972; Kajzer 1981; Pawlowski et al.
2001; Filipowicz 2012). Moreover, some of the above works fail to mention the
store, while others only acknowledge its existence (Szyburska 1976: 106, 107, 112;
Markiewicz-Kozanska 1984: 134, 136; Pytlas 1979: 72, 166; Salm 2001: 495 2007: 75;
Szymanski 2006: s8; Tomczak 2012: 12; Walczak 2007: 63; 2010: 103, 104, 230),
and only few devote more attention to it from different scientific perspectives

Fig. 1. The factory and residential complex Priest’s Mill; a. — As of approx. 1873; source:
APE, Zb.kart. 527 (fragm.); b. — According to measurements from 1894-1896 with later
improvements from 1904-1906; source: APE, Zb.kart. I (fragm. sekc. XXXVIIII, XXXIX,
XLV, XLvI). Legend: x1 — location of the Konsum building; x2 — the Konsum building;
x3 — the ice house.
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Fig. 2. The factory and residential complex Priest’s Mill; a. — As of the period between
1897 and 1899; source: APL, Zb.alb.ikon., Sygn. A-103, k. 2, photo 1.

(Kajzer 1981; Kobojek 1998: 78—79; Pawlowski et al. 2001: 11, 14, 5B, 6B; Salm
1998: 66—67; Filipowicz 2012), however, none is exhaustive’.

We know little particularly about the operation of the store, and our knowl-
edge of the history of its construction is not full. However, in the case of the
latter issue, field research and archival surveys conducted allow to formulate
some hypotheses. First of all, it can be unequivocally stated that it was not built
in the first years of the construction of Scheibler’s factory estate, which started
as early as in 1873 (Pawlowski et al. 2001: §B; Pytlas 1979: 77) or only two years
later (e.g. Poplawska 1964: 3015 1973: 86; 1992: 96; Kobojek 1998: 78; Stefariski
200I: 98; 2003: 59). What allows to conclude that the store was built a bit later
is the fact that it was not included by Rudolf Micinski on the city map (or, in
fact, a supplement to his older map) he drew in 1877, which also, or even mostly
(as it was created for Karol Scheibler), showed the development of all properties
owned by Scheibler at the time (Fig.1a) (aAPE, Zb.kart.: 527; cf. Kajzer 1981: 2).
Moreover, it can be assumed that it was built even later than it is usually suggested
in the literature, according to which it was erected around 1877 (Kajzer 1981: 2;
Kobojek 1998: 78; Filipowicz 2012: 5), before 1878 (Walczak 2010: 104), or in 1879
(Pawlowski et al. 2001: 5B). Only Stefan Pytlas (1979: 166; cf. Tynecki 1988: 49;
Kulesza 2013: 17) reported that the store for factory and office workers was estab-
lished in 1882. And this date is also given in a short description of the first years
of the store’s operation found in an account of the Industrial and Agricultural

7 The facility has been divided for some time now into two separate properties, with the
following addresses: 14 Ksigzy Mtyn Street (plot no. 92/1, section w—25) and 16 Ksi¢zy
Mtyn Street (plot no. 92/z, section w—25). In 2012, Pawet Filipowicz conducted archi-
tectural research there (Filipowicz 2012), and today both parts are subject to conserva-
tor’s renovation of elevations and roofs conducted by the ATIK sp. z 0.0. company based
on a design created in the ARTA sp. z 0.0. company by Danuta Wlodarska and her col-
leagues (Wlodarska et al. 2016; 2016a).
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Fair organised in Warsaw in 188s. The account also makes the date more specific
as its anonymous author writes that

The development of the store was so unexpectedly rapid that within only a few months
the building erected for this purpose by the Association [Scheibler’s Associations — J.P.]
turned out to be too small and had to be extended in two ways... (Wystawa Przemystowo-
-Rolnicza... 188s: 113).

And as we know thanks to field research, such a considerable extension of the store
building took place along with the implementation of the proposals outlined in
the preserved plans of the facility extension dated April 28 (May10), 1883 (APE,
RGP, WA 1661: 156; cf. Filipowicz 2012: 5), so it should probably be assumed that the
original store was built (or at least opened) not later than in the middle of 1882°.

Moreover, considering the fact that a store — usually a grocery — was an inte-
gral element of many European factory and residential complexes supplementing
their functional programme, particularly on estates located in the country or far
from the city centre (Walczak 2010: 230-231), it is seems plausible that it was
included in the original design of the E6dz complex. However, it is difficult to
determine whether this was the case. There is no doubt that the original store
in the Priest’s Mill was relatively small, created mostly to provide for the basic
needs of the residents. Such a purpose is confirmed by the already mentioned
account of the fair, according to which the Association opened a grocery in order to
[...] provide workers with healthy and cheap foodstuffs (Wystawa Przemystowo-Rol-
nicza... 188s: 113).

Initially, it occupied a one-storey building without a basement, covered with
a low gable roof. It was approx. 12.4 x 25.8 m, and its floor space was approx. 263 m*
(Fig.3 — Stage1). It was built of mechanically made, well-fired solid clay bricks
arranged in English cross bond (Dutch bond), joined with lime and sand mortar,
and measuring 63-68 x 128-138 x 268—279 mm, which was close not only to
standard dimensions used in the Tsarist Russia (including Congress Poland) at
the turn of the twentieth century, but also to the Polish Standard introduced in
1927 (cf. Ostap. 1911: 168; Domaniewski 1929; Bochenek 2003: 454)°.

8 The design was signed by the then city planner Hilary Majewski, which is why
Grazynak Kobojek (1998: 78) concluded he was the author of the whole facility.
However, research conducted by Krzysztof Stefariski (1994; 1997; 2015: 59) and Jacek
Strzatkowski (1997: 8—9, 90—97) indicates that while in office, H. Majewski frequent-
ly attributed works of other architects to himself, so it is impossible to take a definite
stand on the issue.

9 A similar material and a similar technique were used to build walls during all stages
of the extension described below. Later, mechanically made clay bricks were still used
but with different dimensions, including solid bricks, cellular bricks, and chequers.
The situation is similar in most buildings in the residential part of the Priest’s Mill.
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Fig. 3. The Konsum building. The basement plan, construction and extension stages.
Legend: 1 — Stage 1 (1882); 2 — Stage 11 (1883/1884); 3 — Stage 111 (between 1883/1884
and 1889); 4 — Stage 1v (1890/1891); 5 — Stage v (after 1897-1899); 5a — The extent of
the northern wall of Stage v on the ground floor level; Author’s own work based on
the results of research carried out by P. Filipowicz (2012).

The building did not survive long in its original form because, as it was already
mentioned, its extension was planned very soon, i.c. in the spring of 1883 (APE,
RGP, WA 1661: 156; cf. Kajzer 1981; Filipowicz 2012), and the already cited press
article allows to assume that the work was carried in the same year (Wystawa
Przemystowo-Rolnicza... 188s: 113). In consequence, the original building was
extended towards the north with a one-storey section with a partial basement'?,
so that it became approx. 46.40 m long, with the width unchanged. A porch with
a gable roof was also added (with a projection approx. 2.80 x 5.70 m) along the
axis of the new, elongated eastern elevation, as a result of which the floor space
increased to approx. 474 m’, while the basements in the annexe extended it further
by approx. 143 m” (Fig. 3 — Stage 11; Fig. 4a).

Another extension of Konsum (Fig. 3 — Stage 111) involved the construction of
the ice house we are interested in (Pietrzak et al. 2015). It will be discussed further
in this paper but two remarks have to be made now.

Firstly, we do not know when exactly it was built, and considering the present state
of preservation — and partially also identification — of Scheibler’s archives, we can
only say that it was completed before July 29/August 10, 1890, when the existence of

10 Nearly all basements created at different stages of the extension had arched brick floors
on steel beams, and the above-ground rooms — wooden-beam floors.
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this structure was marked in a layout drawing attached to the design concerning the
area near the storehouse (APE, RGP, WB 1569 ). Moreover, the fact that the ice house
is not marked in a similar drawing to a design of an adjacent storehouse drawn up on
July 15/27,1889 (APE, RGP, WB 1569) seems to indicate that it was constructed between
these dates. Unfortunately, it is excluded by the fact that no significance was attached to
updating the layout drawing when creating plans for Scheibler’s plants and submitting
them to authorities for approval. For example, the ice house in question was marked
ona plan dated February 22/March 6, 1891, but it is missing from the plans from Au-
gust 25/September 6, 1891 and from July 19/31, 1893 (APE, RGP, WB 1867; 22.48; 3358).

Fig. 4. The Konsum building; a. — A ground floor plan on the design of the first exten-
sion (Stage 11), 1883, source: APE, RGP, WA I661: 156; b. — A ground floor plan on the de-
sign of the third extension (Stage 1v), 1890, source: APE, RGP, WB 1586. Legend: 1. Newly
planned elements of the building.
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Fig. 5. The Konsum building on an aerial photograph from the Second World War,
source: BFM, fm931927 (fragm.).

Secondly, there is no data that would allow us to determine the date of demol-
ishing the structure. The archival survey did not provide any relevant information
about it. The fact that the ice house is marked on the map of E6dz published by
Kazimierz Jasiriski in 1917 (APE, AME, WT 21142) seems to suggest that it still
operated at the time, however, this map is only a re-edition of an older map of
Wiadystaw Starzyniski (Fig. 1b), which reflected the situation from the beginning
of the last decade of the nineteenth century (Apt, Zb.kart. 1), i.e. soon after the
ice house had been built. Community interviews did not provide any useful
information either as despite some opinions that the structure was liquidated
when electric store freezers became popular in the 1960s", people who had lived
in the Priest’s Mill for a few decades much more frequently said that they did
not recall any such feature in this part of the estate. The last information seems
to be confirmed by analysis of barely legible German aerial photographs taken
during the Second World War, which suggests that the ice house might have been

11 The opinions were voiced already after the press had published information about the
purpose of the structure.
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Fig. 6. The Konsum building. A view from the south-east as of the end of the nine-
teenth century (c 1885?), source: APE, Zb.ikon. SiG: 239.

Fig. 7. The Konsum building. Interior of the shop floor as of the end of the nineteenth
century (c 188s?), source: APE, Zb.ikon. SiG: 240.
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gone at the time, and there was another, unknown to us, structure in its place
(particularly: BFM fmo31972) (Fig.s)'>

Before the ice house was demolished, however, the store had been extended
twice. The first extension (Fig. 4 — Stage1v; Fig. 4b, 6) was based — with a few
modifications — on the preserved design created in August 1890 (APE, RGP, WA
1586) and it most probably took place before the end of August of the following
year, when the new element was marked in a layout drawing created along with
a construction plan of, among others, one-storey sheds with laundry rooms and
toilets (APE, RGP, WB 2248). It was added from the west to the Konsum section
erected during Stage 1. It was built of brick, on a rectangular plan, measuring
8.55 x 26.30 m, with floor space of approx. ss1 m? including approx. 175 m* on each
of the two above-ground storeys and approx. 165 m* in the basement.

Both sections of the newly created building were merged in spatial and func-
tional terms on the ground floor, thus forming a large sales floor (Fig. 7), and the
first floor of the added part was used for residential purposes.

During the last of the clearly Scheibler’s extensions — conducted after 1897-1899
(see Fig. 2-3, 10 and below) — the ground floor of the store was extended towards the
north, where a new one-storey brick section was added between the building wall
and the ice house, virtually without a basement, measuring approx. 8.20x12.70 m,
with floor space on the ground floor of approx. 94 m” (Fig.3 — Stage v). It was
built so that it formed a shallow wall projection in the north-eastern part of the
castern elevation, and its northern wall included a fragment of the ice house wall.
It was also placed above the corridor linking the ice house with some of the store
basements. Moreover, the ridge line of its gable roof was at right angles to the ridge
lines of the roofs of the main building parts.

Thus, the Konsum building received the form we can basically see today, except
for the demolished ice house. This does not mean, however, that it was not altered
later as today, on the northern elevation of the one-storey part of the building,
one can still see traces of two smaller annexes built after the ice house had been
liquidated. The existence of the older one is proved by a regular, quadrangular
patch of traditional stucco and a passage bricked up with cellular bricks joining its
interior to a room in the store building. What remained of the other, younger and
smaller annexe, is the mark of a gable roof ‘painted’ on plaster with roof cement.
Other secondary elements, at least in the latest form, are (or, today, partly ‘were’)
concrete ramps located along the western elevation. And finally, both interiors
and elevations show traces of numerous small cuts-oft and masonry rebuildings

as well as larger alterations™.

12 The ice house could have been enclosed by a new structure.

13 This activities will be discussed in a paper prepared by Pawet Filipowicz and the Author.
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The main part of the ice house was built approx. 7.75 m to the north away from
the store building extended during Stage 11, and it was linked with its base-
ments with an underground corridor mentioned above. It was built on a circular
plan, with diameter of approx. 6.3 m, with a foundation depth of 207.39-207.41 m
above sea level, i.e. approx. 1.8 m below ground as of 2015, when the excavation
works started. This ground level (i.e. approx. 209.20 m above sea level) was most
probably similar to the one from the time of the construction.

Virtually the only part of this structure that has survived until today is the
underground section (Fig. 8). Paradoxically, this allowed to determine the method
of building the perimeter wall of the main part. It consists of two concentric
brick rings with outside diameter of up to 6.34 m. The external one is 0.40 m
thick (which corresponds to 1.5 brick lengths), while the internal one is 0.27 m thick
(which is the length of one brick). The first of these two rings seems to have English
bond brickwork, while the other — header bond. Both are separated with a space
of approx. o.10 m and they are joined with regularly spaced, one-brick tie-beams
staggered every two layers. Both external and internal wall faces originally had no

Fig. 8. The remains of the ice house at the Konsum building. A view from the north as
of 2015, photograph by Z. Rybacki and M. Milczarek.
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coating. Over time, however, the latter was sponge-painted with a thin layer of lime
with traces of cement. Three openings were found in it. One is located 1 m above
the floor, measures approx. 0.28 x 0.28 m, reaches the expansion joint, and could
have been made when the structure was built. The remaining two openings'* have
similar dimensions but are located directly above the floor and they are definitely
effects of later works. They are connected with air ducts (?) created by cutting the
internal ring of the wall and lining thus created cavities.

The double wall surrounds cylindrical space with a diameter of 4.80 m (and
floor surface of approx. 18 m®), with the bottom lined with clay bricks later (?)
covered with a layer of bitumen adhesive mixed with coarse gravel. The flooring
lies on a bedding with thickness of approx. 0.30 m, mixed with crushed brick
sand, which, in turn, lies on fine natural sand. It is nearly horizontal, and it only
slightly (by about 1%) inclines towards the centre of the structure. In this place,
one can see a shallow — approx. 0.03 m deep (207.36 m above sea level) - square
hollow, measuring 0.80 x 0.80 m, the bottom of which is the crest of a spot footing
made of bricks located at least 0.60 m below the floor level. On the crest, one can
see traces of a mounting of a cast-iron or steel column.

In the southern part of the double ring, there is a bricked-up', segmen-
tally-arched passage that used to be linked to the already mentioned corridor
under the central part of the one-storey part of the store building erected during
the last extension stage (Fig. 4 — Stage 111). The corridor, which today is rather
useless space closed on one end, used to serve as an airlock, with double doors
on both ends. It consisted of two chambers of the same length, separated with
doors. Today, the corridor is covered with reinforced formwork cast slabs sitting
on steel beams. However, it seems plausible that this structure was only created
during Stage Vv of the extension as before that the roof — according to some
nineteenth-century site plans of the estate (APE, RGP, WB 1569; 1867) — was most
probably located above the ground.

Over the bricked-in opening, there is a relatively small fragment of the above-
ground section of the ice house wall, specifically its outer ring (Fig.9), being
a part of today’s northern wall of the one-storey section of the building, approx.
330 m long and 4.40 m high (213.60 m above sea level)*. It does not, however,
offer us much information as we can only conclude that up to approx. 211.80 m
above sea level the wall consisted of two rings separated with a wide, thermal

14 They were covered with a fine steel mesh.

15 The bricks used were similar in size to the ones used to build the ice house and
the store walls but they were fired far less thoroughly.

16 It was only excavated in 2020 during conservator’s renovation of the elevation
conducted by ATIK sp. z 0.0.
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Fig. 9. The Konsum building. The north-
ern elevation of the one-storey part with
the remains of the ice house wall. A view
from the north as of the summer of 2020,
photograph by J. Pietrzak

insulation space, and above them the
ice house wall was a solid brick wall.

The last solution most probably
involved covering the building with
avault the form of which we are una-
ble to determine today (e.g. Briickner,
Spillner 1904: 254-255, Abb. 356-357).
It is impossible to say how high it was,
and so it is impossible to determine the
volume of the ice house. It can only be
supposed that it was more or less 100 m’.
It can be said with reasonable certainty

that the space was divided into two
levels separated with a floor slab supported on the wall ring and additionally on
a steel or cast-iron column. Moreover, there is no doubt that the upper chamber
was used as an ice warehouse, while the lower was the store’s cold storage, which
is proved by the fact that in the latter there is no drainage for melting ice. Such
a reversal of layout typical of an ice house was not unusual as it was also commonly
used in the Usa as well as in Europe, though mostly in industrial facilities, such
as breweries. This solution ensured good air circulation as heavy cold air falling
down to the floor of the warchouse displaced warmer air (Geul 1884: 409; Plank
1954: 100, 134; Ellis, 1982: 19—20; Tangires 1991: 37, 42; Heintze 2008). This was
extremely important not only because it ensured proper storage temperature but
also because it allowed to maintain adequate humidity in the storage chamber;
too high humidity would favour the development of microorganisms, while too
low humidity would speed up the drying of the products stored and aromatic sub-
stance evaporation, which would lead to mass loss and, in consequence, financial
losses (e.g. Brozkiewicz 1946: 16-17). On the other hand, this required a complete
change in the management of melting ice, and this aroused some doubts about
drainage effectiveness (Ulepszenia... 1867: 39).

17 Numerous cases of such solutions adopted in the United Kingdom are presented by
Sylvia P. Beamon and Susan Roaf (1990).

18 In this case it was most probably insufficient as to improve it the internal wall ring
was cut and the already mentioned air ducts were created.
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Fig. 10. The ice house at the Konsum
building. A view from the north-east
as of the period between 1897 and 1899,
source: Zjednoczone zaklady. .. (fragm.).

The general appearance and oper-
ation of the ice house described here
can be to a certain extent supplemented
with observations made based on its
representation in a perspective veduta
of the Priest’s Mill estate showing its
state between 1897 and 1899 (Fig.2).
Unfortunately, we only know this image from photographs of the original with
signatures of ECKERT & PFLUG, Kunstverlag LEIPZIG - MUNCHEN (e.g. APE,
Zb.alb.ikon. A-103, k.2, photo1) and its later adaptations (e.g. Zjednoczone
Zaklady...). Moreover, even though it is seemingly quite detailed, it also contains
some inaccuracies. Without listing these mostly minor mistakes, it should be
noted that one of them concerned the form of Konsum, which had different ele-
vations but was visualised as two separate one-storey buildings (Fig. 2; 10). The ice
house in the veduta was depicted as a polygonal building with a pyramid-shaped,
perhaps eight-plane, roof, which seems to be topped with a ventilation chim-
ney. Possibly, there is an entrance to the ice house marked on the wall (Fig. 10).

However, nothing in the preserved remains of the ice house suggests that
it used to be polygonal. Moreover, the already mentioned layout drawings and
maps all depict it as a round structure. Its polygonal form may only be an illusion
resulting from the fact that the author schematically marked panels on the wall of
a round building, which were characteristic elements decorating brick elevations
of the buildings in the Priest’s Mill.

v

Having discussed the issues indicated by the title of this paper, we can move on
to conclusions. This time, however, they will not be limited to the object of the
discussion. I am sure that Readers have noticed that the paper includes virtually
no references to the state of research into ice houses in Poland. The is simply be-
cause this issue is almost absent from the scientific literature, which was already
noted nearly twenty years ago by Andrzej Wilk (2000: 37-38) in a short article
published in Spotkania z zabytkami within a series under a telling title 7o zez s¢
zabytki (These Are Also Monuments). Nothing has changed in this respect, which
is surprising considering the fact that old manor and farm buildings included
a considerable, though constantly falling, number of preserved, even if abandoned
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and demolished, ice houses. At the same time, they are elements of sites that are
very popular research subjects among representatives of many fields. It is similar
in the case of another considerable, though definitely smaller, group of ice houses,
i.e. those connected with industrial facilities (mostly plants) and other institutions
that in their production processes or activity first used real and then synthetic ice.
However, the interest in whole complexes did not translate into a considerable
increase in knowledge of their ice houses. It mostly resulted in many mentions of
them in dozens or even hundreds of publications, but it is very difficult to find any
in-depth study on the issue. Probably the only researcher that studied it closely was
Renata Gubaniska (2009: s0-53, 89), who devoted it some attention when investi-
gating Lower Silesian manors and their buildings. Unfortunately, her findings only
to a small extent went beyond nineteenth-century encyclopaedic studies. Others,
like Malgorzata Rozbicka (1999: 76, 88, 90,248, 252) and Bartlomiej Kwiatkowski
(2012: 119-120, 155-156) discussed the issue only briefly or, like Jarostaw Szewczyk
(2019: 127, 162), focused on narrow, technical aspects. Of course, there are works
providing some new observations and information about ice houses but they also
repeat old common opinions (e.g. Kowecka 1991: 214; Sieradzka 2001: 53, 72, 14 43
Baraniewski 2004: 43—44; Zaprutko-Janicka 2017). On the other hand, in West-
ern Europe and in the United States, ice houses have long constituted significant,
stand-alone research issues. A number of monographs have been published (e.g.
Reinink, Vermeulen 1981; Ellis 19825 Reinink 1995; Martin 1997; 20005 Liitgert
2000; Aterini 2007; Heintze 2014). They are of different quality but they well
reflect the scale of the problem. At the same time, even though many of the theses
advanced in these works seem to largely correspond with our realities considering
the current state of knowledge of Polish ice houses, it is an a priori opinion that
should be verified through extensive research. In order to conduct it, we need
to know what we have. Thus, I will repeat the appeal of the already mentioned
A. Wilk (2000: 38) to quickly start inventorying them [i.c. ice houses — J.P.] [...]
but mostly to [...] popularise them, show their value, and prevent their decay. This
appeal should or even must be supported with a remark that in order to effectively
popularise something, it should be at least slightly known.
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Summary

A Few Words About the Ice House of the Konsum Store in
the Nineteenth-Century Priest’s Mill Factory and Residential Complex in £édz

The issue of ice houses, both those found among manor and farm buildings and those
connected with industrial plants, is a research issue frequently raised in many countries
of Western Europe and in the United States. In the Polish literature, however, it does not
attract much interest, which is why knowledge of it — or at least the knowledge shared - is
usually limited to the awareness of the existence of ice houses and their purpose, and only
occasionally do they become subjects of more extensive research. This also concerns the
very material substance of such buildings.

In 2015, on the Priest’s Mill estate in £8dZ, erected along with the extension of Karol
Scheibler’s cotton plant at the beginning of the 1870s, rescue excavations were conducted
under the supervision of archacologists Maciej Milczarek and Zbigniew Rybacki. They
concerned the remains of an ice house built for the estate general store (including a gro-
cery) called Konsum. Its preserved form is a result of a few construction stages completed
in quick succession. During the third one (between 1883/1884 and 1889) the ice house
we are interested in was built. It was not big as its capacity was approximately 100 cubic
metres, and its structure was rather typical of larger industrial ice houses, with the upper
(aboveground) chamber used as an ice warchouse, and the lower (underground) chamber
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serving as the store’s cold storage. Most probably, it was not used for long, however, there
is no data that would allow to determine the time of its liquidation.

Keywords: Priest’s Mill in £6d%, industrial archaeology, ice house

Streszczenie

Kilka stéw o lodowni sklepu ,,Konsum” w dziewietnastowiecznym zespole
fabryczno-mieszkalnym: Ksiezy Mtyn w todzi

Zagadnienic lodowni, tak tych spotykanych wéréd zabudowan dworskich i folwarcznych,
jak i zwigzanych z zaktadami przemystowymi, jest tematem badawczym czesto podejmo-
wanym w wielu krajach zachodniej Europy oraz w Stanach Zjednoczonych. Natomiast
w polskiej literaturze naukowej nie budza one wigkszego zainteresowania, w efekcie czego
wiedza o nich - przynajmniej ta przekazywana — najczesciej ogranicza si¢ do $wiadomosci
ich istnienia oraz przeznaczenia i tylko sporadycznie stajg si¢ one przedmiotem nieco
szerzej zakrojonych badan. Dotyczy to takze samej, materialnej substancji obicktéw.

W 2015 . w natédzkim osiedlu ,Ksi¢zy Mtyn”, zrealizowanym wraz z majaca swéj pocza-
tek w latach 70-tych X1X w. rozbudowa zaktadéw bawetnianych Karola Scheiblera, pod
kierunkiem archeologéw Macieja Milczarka i Zbigniewa Rybackiego przeprowadzone
zostaly ratownicze badania wykopaliskowe. Ich przedmiotem byty relikty lodowni wznie-
sionej dla potrzeb funkcjonujacego tu w przesziosci wielobranzowego (m.in. spozywczego)
sklepu osiedlowego, zwanego Konsumem. W swej zachowanej do dzi§ bryle powstat on
w efekeie kilku szybko nastgpujacych po sobie etapéw budowy, a w trzecim z nich (mi¢dzy
1883/1884 a 1889 r.) powstala interesujaca nas tu lodownia. Nie byl to obiekt wielki, gdyz
jego kubature oceni¢ mozna na zblizong do okoto 100 m’ otrzymal za$ on dyspozycje
typowa raczej dla wigkszych lodowni przemystowych, w ktérych to gérna (nadziemna)
komora stuzyla jako sktad lodu, za$ dolna (zaglebiona w grunt) byta ,zimnym” magazynem
sklepowym. Nie funkcjonowal on zapewne zbyt dtugo, brak jednak podstaw dla préby

doktadnego okreslenia czasu jego likwidacji.

Stowa kluczowe: Ksi¢zy Mlyn, archeologia przemystowa, lodownia
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